

State of Louisiana

**Coastal Protection and Restoration Authority (CPRA)** 

## **2023 Operations, Maintenance, and Monitoring Report**

for

# Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping

State Project Number TV-0018 Priority Project List #9

September 2024 Vermilion Parish

Prepared by:

Adam Constantin And Jacques Boudreaux

Operations Division Lafayette Regional Office 635 Cajundome Boulevard Lafayette, LA 70506



#### **Suggested Citation:**

Constantin, A., and J. Boudreaux 2024. 2023 Operations, Maintenance, and Monitoring Report for the Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18). Coastal Protection and Restoration Authority of Louisiana, Office of Coastal Protection and Restoration, Lafayette, Louisiana. 32 pp and Appendices.



#### 2023 Operations, Maintenance, and Monitoring Report For Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18)

#### Table of Contents

I.	Introduction	1
II.	Maintenance Activity	5
	a. Project Feature Inspection Procedures	5
	b. Inspection Results	5
	c. Maintenance Recommendations	6
	i. Immediate/Emergency	6
	ii. Programmatic/Routine	6
	d. Maintenance History	6
III.	Operation Activity	6
	a. Operation Plan	6
	b. Actual Operations	6
IV	Monitoring Activity	0
	a. Monitoring Goals	0
	b. Monitoring Elements1	0
	c. Monitoring Results and Discussion1	1
V.	Discussion2	8
VI	Conclusions2	8
	a. Project Effectiveness	8
	b. Recommended Improvements	9
	c. Lessons Learned	9
	d. End of Project Life	9
VI	I. Literature Cited	1
VI	II. Appendices	
	<ul><li>a. Appendix A (As-Built Drawings)</li></ul>	3 9



#### Preface

This report includes monitoring data collected through Fall 2022, the annual maintenance inspection from April 2016, the Hurricane Laura Damage Assessment from October 2020, and a final site visit from May 2024. The Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18) project is a 20-year Coastal Wetlands Planning, Protection, and Restoration Act (CWPPRA, Public Law 101-646, Title III, Priority List 5) project administered by the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) and the Coastal Protection and Restoration Authority of Louisiana (CPRA).

The 2023 report is the 5<sup>th</sup> and final report in a series of reports. For additional information on lessons learned, recommendations and project effectiveness please refer to the 2004, 2005, 2008, and 2011 Operations, Maintenance, and Monitoring Reports and prior O&M annual inspection reports on the CPRA website at <u>http://coastal.Louisiana.gov</u>. These reports will be made available for download at the following website: <u>http://cims.coastal.la.gov</u>.

#### I. Introduction

The Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18) was proposed on the 9<sup>th</sup> priority list of the Coastal Wetlands Planning, Protection, and Restoration Act. The project is located approximately 4 miles (6.44 km) south of Intracoastal City in Vermilion Parish, Louisiana, and includes Little White Lake and the portion of Little Vermilion Bay immediately west of Four Mile Canal also known as the Vermilion River Cutoff (Figure 1). The project consists of earthen terraces meant to protect the shorelines of Little White Lake and Four Mile Canal from further erosion.

The Flood Control Act of 18 August 1941 enacted by the United States Congress provided for improvements in the Vermilion River. Vermilion River Cutoff, an 8 ft by 80 ft (2.4 m by 24 m) channel from the -8 foot contour in Vermilion Bay to the Gulf Intracoastal Waterway (GIWW), was constructed for improving navigation from Lafayette, LA to Vermilion Bay. The materials excavated to build the canal were deposited on spoil banks along the canal which prevented river water from nourishing the adjacent marsh (USACE 1993; HNTB 2002). The main cause of marsh loss in this area is shoreline erosion. The 1978 Louisiana Department of Transportation and Development (LDOTD) inventory and assessment of shoreline erosion in coastal Louisiana documented erosion rates of 1.6 ft/yr (0.5 m/yr) and 2.6 ft/yr (0.8 m/yr) in the vicinity of Little Vermilion Bay (Adams et al. 1978). Shoreline change in the project area from 1978 to 1988 was 2.86 ft/yr (0.87 m/yr) (USGS 2003). The TV-18 project area was relatively unprotected and thus heavily affected by storm events emerging from Vermilion Bay. The project was intended to allow sub-aerial marsh development from sediments introduced to the area by the GIWW through the Vermilion River and Four Mile Canal (LDNR 1999) by preventing shoreline erosion.

Land loss in the region mostly occurred between 1956 and 1978 and was along the edge of Four Mile Canal and the Little Vermilion Bay shoreline (USGS 2002). Within the project area, there were approximately 160 acres (65 ha) of land and 2,109 acres (854 ha) of open water in 1993 which accounted for 93 and 7% of project area respectively.



The soils surrounding the project area include Clovelly and Lafitte muck with two patches of Udifluvents. Clovelly and Lafitte series are poorly drained organic soils that formed in herbaceous plant material over clayey alluvium. Udifluvents are sandy to clayey soils that were hydraulically excavated during the construction and maintenance of navigable waterways (USDA 1996). Soil boring samples collected in Little White Lake and Little Vermilion Bay revealed two to five feet of very soft clay over two to eight feet of organic clay (HNTB 2002).

The surrounding marsh was brackish in 1949 (O'Neil 1949) and 1968 (Chabreck et al. 1968) and was intermediate in 1978, 1988, and 1997 (Chabreck and Linscombe 1978, 1988, 1997). In 2004 observed emergent vegetation on the shore around Little White Lake included *Phragmites australis* (common reed), *Zizaniopsis mileacea* (giant cutgrass), *Spartina alterniflora* (smooth cordgrass), *Hymenocallis caroliniana* (Carolina spiderlily), *Triadica sebifera* (tallowtree), and *Sesbania drummondii* (poisonbean). In 1998, area vegetation consisted of *Spartina patens* (saltmeadow cordgrass), *Cladium mariscus ssp. jamaicense* (Jamaica sawgrass), and *Schoenoplectus robustus* (sturdy bulrush) with scattered SAVs including *Myriophyllum spicatum* (spike watermilfoil), *Ceratophyllum demersum* (coon's tail) and *Najas guadalupensis* (southern waternymph) (United States Department of Commerce National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine Fisheries Service 2000).

The project goals include:

- 1. Create 70 acres (28.3 ha) of earthen terraces within the project area immediately after construction.
- 2. Reduce shoreline erosion rates by 50% (reduce from 8 ft/yr to 4 ft/yr) over the 20 year project life.
- 3. As a result of goals 1 and 2, achieve a 9% (approximately 17 acres [6.9 ha]) net increase in marsh habitat by the end of the 20 year project.
- 4. Increase submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV) coverage from 0% to 25% of the project area by the end of the 20 year project life.
- 5. Increase fisheries utilization of the project area.

The construction of terraces in Little White Lake and Little Vermilion Bay was meant to buffer existing marsh against shoreline erosion by reducing wave and wake energy and creating marsh both by the planting of *S. alterniflora* along the crowns and slopes of the constructed terraces and by allowing suspended sediments introduced from Four Mile Canal and the Vermilion River to be trapped in the shallow open water adjacent to the terraces. Terraces may indirectly reduce water-column turbidity within the project area which, in conjunction with decreased wave and wake energy, should create habitat suitable for the colonization by submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV). Fisheries habitat may also be enhanced by the marsh edge created by the terraces and the propagation of SAV.

Approximately 40,300 linear ft (12,280 m) of terraces in the eastern portion of Little Vermilion Bay area adjacent to Four Mile Canal (Figure 2 and Appendix A, Sheet 3) and 28,150 linear ft (8,580 m) in the Little White Lake area (Figure 3 and Appendix A, Sheet 3) were constructed to deter wave erosion and enhance sediment deposition. The terraces were arranged in either a linear or "fish-net" orientation in the open water areas. Terraces in the Little Vermilion Bay area were built to + 5.0 ft (+1.5 m) NAVD88 with a 20 ft crown and 4:1 ft side slopes. Terraces in the Little White Lake area were also built to + 5.0 ft (+1.5 m) NAVD88, but have a 15 ft (4.6 m) crown with 4:1 ft side slopes (Figure 4). Post consolidation elevation of all terraces was



expected to be between 2 and 3 ft NAVD88. The borrow or floatation channel is located on the land side of all terraces and was constructed to a maximum depth of 10 ft below the existing water bottom. In order to minimize erosive energies, the terrace slopes and crowns were planted with *Spartina alterniflora* (smooth cordgrass). Construction was completed in May, 2004. Vegetative plantings of *Schoenoplectus californicus* (California bulrush) were completed in the Vermilion Bay area of the project as part of LA-39 year 3 (Fall 2014) and year 7 (Fall 2018).





**Figure 1.** Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (T/V-18) project area showing boundary and terrace locations.



#### II. Maintenance Activity

#### a. Project Feature Inspection Procedures

The purpose of the annual inspection of the Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping Project (TV-18) is to evaluate the constructed project features to identify any deficiencies and prepare a report detailing the condition of project features and recommended corrective actions needed. Should it be determined that corrective actions are needed, CPRA shall provide, in the report, a detailed cost estimate for engineering, design, supervision, inspection, and construction contingencies, and an assessment of the urgency of such repairs. The annual inspection report also contains a summary of maintenance projects completed since initial construction of project features. A summary of past operation and maintenance projects completed since completed since completion of the Four Mile Canal Project is outlined in Section IV.

An inspection of the Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping Project (TV-18) was held on April 21, 2016 under mostly cloudy skies and mild temperatures. In attendance were Stan Aucoin and Mel Guidry from CPRA and John Foret, and Rick Hartman from NOAA Fisheries. The annual inspection began at the site of the terraces constructed in Little White Lake.

Subsequent to the 2016 inspection, a final site visit was conducted by CPRA on May 1, 2024, under mostly clear skies and hot temperatures. In attendance were Jacques Boudreaux, Adam Constantin, and Stuart Hebert from CPRA.

The field inspection included a visual inspection of the project site. Staff gauge readings were used, when available, to determine approximate elevations of water and earthen terraces. Photographs were taken at each project feature (see Appendix B).

#### b. Inspection Results

#### Site 1—Earthen terraces

During the 2016 observation, water depths at the entrance to the terrace field in Little White Lake had continued to shallow. The 3rd row of terraces had fewer terraces visible, while the 2nd row had continued to suffer effects of the waves. The 1st row remains in excellent condition. The eastern terraces adjacent to the Four Mile Canal continue to erode as well as the western most terraces. The boat wakes continue to damage these terraces. Interior terraces were inspected on this trip and found to be in excellent condition. Vegetation between the terraces in both fields is expanding. (Photos: Appendix B, Photos 1-4)

Since that time, the 2024 observation revealed continued deterioration of the interior rows of terraces at Little White Lake, with only the 1<sup>st</sup> row of terraces remaining visible. Water depths were noticeably very shallow in portions of Little White Lake approaching the historic lake rim, indicating a likely shallowing aided by restoration efforts of the TV-0018 project. Advanced erosion was noted on the east side of the Four Mile Canal project area, though locations of shell hash deposits were noted nearby. (Photos: Appendix B, Photos 5-8)



#### Site 2—Vegetation plantings

Vegetation on stable terraces in both areas continues to do extremely well. Emergent vegetation has become established and continues to expand. No maintenance with regard to the plantings is needed at this time.

#### c. Maintenance Recommendations

i. Immediate/Emergency repairs

None

#### ii. Programmatic/Routine Repairs

None

#### d. Maintenance History

<u>General Maintenance</u>: Below is a summary of completed maintenance projects and operation tasks performed since May 2004, the construction completion date of the Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping Project.

There has been no required maintenance on this project.

#### **III.** Operation Activity

#### a. Operation Plan

There are no water control structures associated with this project, therefore no Structural Operation Plan is required.

#### b. Actual Operations

There are no water control structures associated with this project, therefore no Structural Operation Plan is required.





**Figure 2.** Proposed schematic for Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (T/V-18) for terraces in the eastern section of Little Vermilion Bay (HNTB 2002).





**Figure 3.** Schematic for Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (T/V-18) for terraces in the western section of Little White Lake (HNTB 2002).





**Figure 4.** Typical layout and cross section of terraces constructed in Little Vermilion Bay and Little White Lake for the Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18) project (HNTB 2002).



### IV. Monitoring Activity

#### a. Monitoring Goals

The objectives of the Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping project are to reduce shoreline erosion rates and increase marsh habitat, SAV and fisheries utilization, and to increase freshwater and sediment flow from Four Mile Canal into the project area by constructing conveyance channels adjacent to earthen terraces.

The following goals contribute to the evaluation of the above objectives:

Specific Monitoring Goals:

- 1 Evaluate the rate of erosion along the shoreline of the project area (Little White Lake and adjacent Little Vermilion Bay).
- 2 Evaluate establishment of emergent vegetation on planted terraces.
- 3 Evaluate sediment deposition within the project area.
- 4 Evaluate land/water ratios with respect to initial and secondary land gains.

#### b. Monitoring Elements

#### Shoreline Survey

To document shoreline movement, differential GPS was used to map the shoreline in Little Vermilion Bay and Little White Lake in 2004, 2010, and 2022. Differential GPS was used as described in Steyer et al. (1995). Differentially corrected GPS data sets were obtained in 2004 (as built), and post-construction in 2010 and 2022. GPS data was taken during the Spring of each monitoring year to minimize errors associated with taking data at different times of the year, not accounting for seasonal changes that might occur to the shoreline.

#### **Terrace Vegetation**

The condition of the natural emergent and planted vegetation on the terraces over the life of the project was monitored using a stratified sampling scheme on 16 of the total planted terraces using a modified Braun-Blanquet sampling method as outlined in Steyer et al. (1995). Transect lines and plots were established across selected terraces to include both high and low energy environments. Three sampling plots were established on randomly selected transect lines which will include a plot on both slopes and 1 plot on the crown. At each station, percent cover, dominant plant height, and species composition were documented in a 4 m<sup>2</sup> sample area. Each plot was marked with 2 corner poles to allow for revisiting the sites over time. Vegetation was evaluated at the sampling sites in the Spring of 2004 (as built), and post-construction in the Springs of 2007 and 2010 and the Fall of 2022.

#### **Bathymetry/Topography**

Sediment deposition was monitored along existing transects used in bathymetry map creation. Twenty eight (28) transects encompassing an array of terrace and channel formations were selected for development of elevation profiles. Elevation of the water bottom sediments was determined along each transect in a similar fashion to that in the initial survey. Surveys were



conducted by a professional engineering firm in 2003 (prior to and immediately post-construction), and were replicated in 2023.

#### **Digital Color Infrared Video Imagery**

To document land to open-water ratios and marsh loss/gain rates in the project area, color infrared video imagery (1:12,000) was obtained in the summer of 2004 (as built), and post-construction in 2005, 2007, 2011, and 2018. To track project feature progress in earlier stages of project (2004, 2005, and 2007), imagery was delineated to classify all land in the project area as either (1) preexisting wetlands, (2) vegetated and non-vegetated terraces, and (3) non-terrace, newly developed wetlands (i.e., those that develop in open water areas between the terraces or adjacent to the preexisting perimeter levees).

#### CRMS Supplemental

In addition to the project specific monitoring elements listed above, a variety of other data is collected at CRMS-*Wetlands* stations which can be used as supporting or contextual information. Data types collected at CRMS sites include hydrologic from continuous recorder, vegetative, physical soil characteristics, discrete porewater salinity, surface elevation change, vertical accretion and land-water analysis of a 1 km<sup>2</sup> area encompassing the station (Folse et al. 2008). For this report, vegetation data from CRMS2041 was used to contrast emergent vegetation on the terraces and in existing marsh.

#### c. Monitoring Results and Discussion

#### **Shoreline Position**

DGPS shoreline surveys were performed in June 2004 and June 2010 (Figure 5, Table 1), with a final shoreline survey in 2022 (Figure 6, Table 2). On average the shoreline erosion rate in Little White Lake was 0.00 m/yr from 2004–2010 and +0.78 m/yr (+2.55 ft/yr) from 2010–2022. There was consistent loss on the west side where the outer terraces had eroded with -0.65 m/yr (-2.1 ft/yr) from 2004–2010 and -0.43 m/yr (-1.43 ft/yr) from 2010–2022. Conversely, there was consistent gain on the more protected north side of Little White Lake with +0.58 m/yr (+1.9 ft/yr) from 2004–2010 and +2.67 m/yr (+8.77 ft/yr) from 2010-2022. In combination with its more protected location, the gain in the northern Little White Lake area may be due to trapped sediment from upstream alluvium and storm events. The more rapid recent increase is so drastic because it captures the connection of the innermost terrace to the existing shoreline.

The average shoreline change rate for the Little Vermilion Bay area was +0.58 m/yr (+1.9 ft/yr) from 2004–2010 and -0.39 m/yr (-1.27 ft/yr) from 2010–2022. There was more gain on the protected south side than the unprotected northern shore from 2004–2010, with +1.73 m/yr (+5.7 ft/yr) in the south and 0.14 m/yr (-0.5 ft/yr) in the north. The positive shore movement in the south appears to be due in part to sediment deposition trapped behind the terraces from Hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Gustav. The positive effect of these storms appears to be gradually counteracted by erosional forces from 4-mile Canal. Shoreline movement in the Little Vermilion Bay area was slightly negative from 2010–2022, with -0.24 m/yr (-0.78 ft/yr) in the south and -0.48 m/yr (-1.56 ft/yr) in the north.



		m/y	r	ft/yr				
	Mean	± Std Error	Min	Max	Mean	± Std Error	Min	Max
Little White Lake	0.00	0.09	-2.41	5.39	0	0.3	-7.9	17.7
LWL-W	-0.65	0.07	-2.41	0.79	-2.1	0.2	-7.9	2.6
LWL-N	0.58	0.13	-1.96	5.39	1.9	0.4	-6.4	17.7
Little Vermilion Bay	0.58	0.16	-2.20	13.91	1.9	0.5	-7.2	45.6
LVB-N	-0.14	0.06	-1.31	3.36	-0.5	0.2	-4.3	11
LVB-S	1.73	0.37	-2.20	13.91	5.7	1.2	-7.2	45.6

Table 1. Shoreline Change Rate from 2004 to 2010.

Table 2. Shoreline Change Rate from 2010 to 2022.

		m/y	r	ft/yr				
	Mean	± Std Error	Min	Max	Mean	± Std Error	Min	Max
Little White Lake	0.78	0.10	-1.03	10.53	2.55	0.33	-3.38	34.55
LWL-W	-0.43	0.04	-1.03	1.05	-1.43	0.14	-3.38	3.44
LWL-N	2.67	0.45	-0.80	10.53	8.77	1.48	-2.62	34.55
Little Vermilion Bay	-0.39	0.04	-1.73	3.29	-1.27	0.14	-5.68	10.79
LVB-N	-0.48	0.06	-1.73	3.29	-1.56	0.21	-5.68	10.79
LVB-S	-0.24	0.10	-1.70	1.97	-0.78	0.33	-5.58	6.46





**Figure 5.** Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping DGPS shoreline change rates (m/yr) from 2004 to 2010.





**Figure 6.** Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping DGPS shoreline change rates (m/yr) from 2010 to 2022.



#### **Terrace Vegetation**

Total percent cover of vegetation within Little White Lake increased for years 2004, 2007 and 2010 from 12.3%, 38.1% and 44.6% respectively then decreased to 14.9% for 2022(Figure 7, Photos: Appendix B). Little Vermilion Bay had a slight decrease of 71.6%, 69.7%, 61.2%, 49.7% for 2004, 2007, 2010, and 2022, respectively.

Species richness was stable over project life, with the mean N species range of <1 for both areas. There have consistently been more species within Little Vermilion Bay than Little White Lake (Figure 8). In Little White Lake, the terraces located on the northeast lake rim were protected by the terrace rows in front of them and showed a higher number of species. The outer most terrace row was subjected to more wave energies and experienced the lowest number of species, high rates of erosion, and an eventual collapse. In Little Vermilion Bay, terraces located behind an existing island and in the innermost terrace field had the highest number of species while the first set of terrace rows opened to the large fetch experienced the most erosion and low species numbers.

Cover, species richness, and floristic quality (FQI) increased over time on the Little White Lake terraces from 2004 to 2010 then decreased from 2010 to 2022 (Figure 9). The decrease in cover and FQI was drastic in 2022, with values similar to the beginning of the project in 2004. Cover, richness, and FQI began much higher on the Little Vermilion Bay terraces and gradually decreased over time. The dominant species in both areas was the planted species, *Spartina alterniflora* until 2022, in which species assemblages switched to more freshwater *Panicum repens* and *Sagittatia lancifolia*. Many of the species colonizing the Little Vermilion Bay terraces of the volatility of the ecosystem, which due to its position in the landscape is exposed to harsh environmental forces.

Vegetation at nearby CRMS2041 has a few species in common with the community on the Little Vermilion Bay terraces although the dominants are not the same (Figure 10). The CRMS site is consistently dominated by *Phragmites australis*, which is present on the Vermilion Bay terraces, but the CRMS site has little *Spartina alterniflora*. The CRMS site also has had *Carex spp* presence documented since 2019, which is present only in the latest (2022) project vegetation survey and only at the Little Vermilion Bay stations. FQI scores are much higher at CRMS2041 (Figure 10).





**Figure 7.** Little Vermilion Bay stations were higher in total % cover over time than Little White Lake stations for all years.



**Figure 8.** There has consistently been a higher N of plant species observed at Little Vermilion Bay than Little White Lake.





**Figure 9.** Percent coverage of species and floristic quality index of vegetation data collected on the Little Vermilion Bay and Little White Lake terraces. Values are means of 57 stations within the Little Vermilion Bay site and 33 stations within the Little White Lake site; therefore, the sum of % coverage of individual species can be greater than 100 %.



Little White Lake

Vermilion Bay



#### Floristic Quality Index for Intermediate Marsh, Site CRMS2041

**Figure 10.** Percent coverage of species and floristic quality index of vegetation data collected on at CRMS station 2041 approximately a quarter mile north of Little White Lake .



#### **Bathymetry/Topography**

Data from professional elevation surveys completed in 2003 and 2023 was used to quantify elevation change for the project (Figures 11 and 12). As-built data was compiled using best available data sources. Pre-construction bathymetry (water bottom) data was used from Little White Lake due to absence of as-built bathymetry data. Further, topographic as-built data from Vermilion Bay was used to characterize terrace elevation profile for both areas (Figure 12).

Elevation loss was observed across all elevation survey classes across the 20-year project life. Terrace crown is the only elevation survey class that was had a positive elevation mean value for both Little White Lake (0.88 ft., NAVD88 Geoid 12B) and Vermilion Bay (1.34 ft., NAVD88 Geoid 12B) at the end of project life. Those mean elevation values are comparable to that of natural vegetated marsh in Vermilion Bay captured in 2023 (0.92 ft., NAVD88 Geoid 12B). Mean water bottom elevation loss was the least drastic of all survey classes, with the lowest elevations occurring in Vermilion Bay project area (Figures 11 and 12).



**Figure 11.** Elevation survey data collected in 2003 and 2023 within the T/V 18 project area at Little White Lake and Vermilion Bay.





**Figure 12.** Data layout for elevation survey transects within the Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18).



#### **Digital Color Infrared Video Imagery:**

Analysis of digital color infrared video taken in 2004, Z-1 imaging for 2005 and color infrared aerial photography for 2007, 2015, and 2018 for the entire project area are presented in Figures 13-17. The total project area is 2,270 acres. The Little White Lake project area consists of 708 acres and the Little Vermilion Bay project area consists of 1,562 acres. The Little White Lake area decreased by 4 acres from 2004 to 2005 but had an increase of 11 acres from 2005 to 2007 and another increase of 1 acre from 2007 to 2015, which remaining consistent through 2018. The Little Vermilion Bay area had an increase in land of 15 acres from 2004 to 2005 and another 3 acres from 2005 to 2007, which remained consistent through 2015, with another increase of 8 acres from 2015 - 2018 (Table 3). The losses within the Little White Lake area were attributed to the erosion of the outer terraces on the western shore as a result of wave action and fetch from across Little Vermilion Bay. The gains within both areas were attributed to the deposition of sediment behind the terraces where sediment was trapped and became vegetated. Hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Gustav could be a contributing factor to the gradual increase in land behind the terraces after the storms.

There were 10 acres of newly developed wetlands in the Little Vermilion Bay terrace area and 11 acres in the Little White Lake terrace area in 2007 (Figure 15). Although wetland classes were not included in the 2015 and 2018 Land/Water analysis, it appeared that wetland growth continued to occur on the edge of the terraces with small pockets in protected existing wetlands. Wetland growth in Vermilion Bay between 2007 and 2018 could also partially be attributed to LA-39 plantings in the Falls of 2014 and 2018. Total land gain from 2004-2018 was 34 acres, eight in Little White Lake and 26 in Little Vermilion Bay.





**Figure 13.** Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18) 2004 land water analysis.





**Figure 14.** Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18) 2005 land water analysis.





**Figure 15.** 2007 Land Water analysis for Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18).





**Figure 16.** 2015 Land Water analysis for Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18).





**Figure 17.** 2018 Land Water analysis for Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping (TV-18).



					Little W	hite Lake				
	20	)04	20	005	20	07	20	)15	20	018
	acres	%	acres	%	acres	%	acres	%	acres	%
Land	65	9.2	61	8.6	72	10.2	73	10.3%	73	10.3%
Water	643	90.8	647	91.4	636	89.8	635	89.7%	635	89.7%
Total	708		708		708		708		708	
					Vermil	ion Bay				
	20	004	20	005	20	07	20	)15	20	18
	acres	%	acres	%	acres	%	acres	%	acres	%
Land	106	6.8	121	7.7	124	7.9	124	7.9%	132	8.5%
Water	1456	93.2	1441	92.3	1438	92.1	1438	92.1%	1430	91.5%
Total	1562		1562		1562		1562		1562	

## Table 3. Percent land and water for the for the Little White Lake and Vermilion Bayterrace areas for 2004, 2005, 2007, 2015, and 2018



#### V. Discussion

The resilience of marsh ecosystems in the TV-18 project area is largely influenced by erosional forces. Monitoring over the project life span demonstrated a clear effect of fetch length, large wakes from larges water vessels, alluvial inputs, and the presence of shoreline protection. Shoreline movement was stable to positive in project areas that were the most protected, either by natural or man-features. Most of the outside terraces of the Little White Lake side of the project were lost. However, in the more protected northern area, the outside terraces played a sacrificial role in allowing the inner terraces to persist and in some areas connect with existing shoreline. In the Vermilion Bay side of the project the effect of terraces was less drastic, but still observable. This is due to the relative natural protection of the northern side of the project area when compared to the west side of the Little White Lake project area.

The terraces in Vermilion Bay have shown expansion of vegetation, which has helped to stabilize sediment and allow the land mass in the project area to remain relatively stable over time. Channelization between terraces as a result of wave action from Four Mile Canal is apparent when looking at bathymetric data in the area. This area has direct sediment input and relatively less fetch, but more wave action from large water vessels. A hard shoreline structure would be necessary if this influence from the Canal were to be mitigated, though the presence these channels does not appear to have a net negative impact on the integrity of surrounding marsh.

Vegetation in the project area has recently shifted (since 2010) to favor a more freshwater plant species assemblage. Freshwater influence and sediment availability/dynamics have had a most drastic impact on the vegetation and land cover in the northern area of Little While Lake. Plantings from two separate LA-39 projects have facilitated maintenance and expansion of healthy marsh in the Vermilion Bay portion of the project area. With that, it appears likely that the TV-18 project would have met the metrics for success without the influence of the LA-39 plantings.

Over the last 20 years, the project area has seen a range of impacts from various external sources. As a means of shoreline protection, the presence of terraces was shown to have a positive impact on shoreline stability and overall ecosystem resilience, particularly in the absence of exceptional erosional forces as seen in the southern portion of the Little White Lake area. With adequate hard shoreline protection, terrace stability would no doubt be further enhanced, especially in high wave-energy environment.

#### **VI.** Conclusions

a. Project Effectiveness

The Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping Project is in good condition and functioning as intended. The outer rows of terraces have eroded in the highest energy environments but the shorelines have been protected for the most part.

The terraces effectively protected the shoreline in Little Vermilion Bay where the protected southern shoreline gained land behind the terraces and the unprotected northern shoreline



continued to erode. Parts of the western shore of Little White Lake continued to erode despite being protected while the northern shoreline gained land, and in some areas, became attached to created terrace.

The planted vegetation colonized most of the terraces then switched to a more freshwater plant species assemblage between 2010 and 2022.

Land to water ratios have increased over time in both areas. Project goals for shoreline erosion and marsh habitat creation have been exceeded at the end of the project's 20-year life cycle. If based on the amount of suitable habitat increase in the project area, it can be assumed that submerged aquatic vegetation and fisheries utilization project goals have been met as well.

Overall, the project has created functional marshland and is expected to maintain the integrity of the marsh it has been protecting.

b. Recommended Improvements

There are no recommended improvements for this project.

c. Lessons Learned

The life-cycle of terrace restoration projects is dependent on environmental conditions, predominantly the intensity of erosional forces and the presence of a sediment source. Terraces created in high energy environments such as the ones located adjacent to the Four Mile Canal may benefit from a hard structure, fence, or breakwater to minimize the erosive effects from boat wake traffic. When used as a shoreline stabilization method, design for terrace marsh creation should also employ locations with an active sediment source (or the resilience to persist through deposition storm events and, if possible, relatively short fetch). These conditions would serve to facilitate the eventual attachment of the innermost terrace to the existing shoreline, which is an apt goal for an integrated, sustainable marsh creation at the end of a project life.

There are locations adjacent to this project that may benefit from similar terrace marsh creations, particularly in the north Little Vermilion Bay shoreline area. This area has ample sediment deposition from the old mouth of the Vermilion River, and is a logical expansion of the existing TV-18 project adjacent to Four Mile Canal. The results from this project and the enhancements from LA-39 plantings indicate that employing a similar design, with more proactive planting project schedule may be a viable option for a future terrace creation project in the area.

d. End of Project Life

Terraces in this environment have been largely successful at reducing shoreline erosion while capturing sediment in formerly open water areas around the terraces. These features should continue to mature and potentially create emergent marsh. The terraces have needed little maintenance over the 20 year project life and this trend is expected to continue into the foreseeable future. The sacrificial southern terraces in the northern portion of Little White Lake area have served their purpose to facilitate the establishment of a stable shoreline in contrast with the southern portion of Little White Lake, likely due to a combination of sediment



availability from the Old Vermilion River and a disparity in the intensity of wind and wave energy. The project is to be closed out without removal with no recommended repairs. In combination with LA-39 planting efforts to create sustainable emergent marsh around the terraces in Little Vermilion Bay, the project will help to mitigate the erosive forces received by the project area, thus prolonging its economic life well beyond the 20 year threshold.



#### VII. Literature Cited

- Adams, R. D., P. J. Banas, R. H. Baumann, J. H. Blackmon, and W. G. McIntire. 1978. Shoreline erosion in coastal Louisiana: inventory and assessment. Baton Rouge: Louisiana Department of Transportation and Development, Coastal Resources Program. 139 pp.
- Chabreck, R. H., and G. Linscombe 1997. Vegetation type map of the Louisiana coastal marshes. Louisiana Department of Wildlife and Fisheries, New Orleans. Scale: 1:62,500.

- Chabreck, R. H., T. Joanen, and A. W. Palmisano 1968. Vegetation type map of the Louisiana coastal marshes. Louisiana Department of Wildlife and Fisheries, New Orleans. Scale: 1:62,500.
- HNTB Corporation 2002. Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping Engineering and Design Services. Data Collection and Analysis Feasibility Report. DNR Contract No. 2511-02-09. Baton Rouge, LA.
- Louisiana Department of Natural Resources 1999. Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping Wetland Value Assessment. Baton Rouge: Louisiana Department of Natural Resources, Coastal Restoration Division.
- O'Neil, T. 1949. Map of the southern part of Louisiana showing vegetation types of the Louisiana marshes. Louisiana Department of Wildlife and Fisheries New Orleans.
- Steyer, G. D., R. C. Raynie, D. L. Steller, D. Fuller, and E Swenson. 1995. Quality management plan for Coastal Wetlands Planning, Protection, and Restoration Act monitoring plan. Open-file series 95-01. Baton Rouge: Louisiana Department of Natural Resources, Coastal Restoration Division.
- U. S. Army Corps of Engineers 1993. Rivers And Harbors Flood Control Projects Flood Control M. R. & T. Project Maps. New Orleans District, New Orleans, LA.
- U. S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service 1996. Soil Survey of Vermilion Parish, Louisiana. Publication No. 1996-405-693/20014/SCS. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office. 183 pp, 98 maps. Scale 1:20,000.
- U. S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service 2000. Draft Environmental Assessment of Four Mile Canal



Terracing and Sediment Trapping Project. CWPPRA Project XTV-30. Silver Spring, Maryland. 42 pp.

- U. S. Geological Survey, National Wetlands Research Center, National Biological Survey 2002. Four Mile Canal Terracing and Sediment Trapping Project TV-18 Habitat Analysis. Map ID: 2003-04-109. USGS/NWRC, Coastal Restoration Field Station, Baton Rouge, La. Unpublished data.
- U. S. Geological Survey, National Wetlands Research Center, National Biological Survey 2003. Four Mile Canal Project (TV-18) Shoreline Change Analysis. Map ID: 2003-11-1781. USGS/NWRC, Coastal Restoration Field Station, Baton Rouge, La. Unpublished data.



32

Appendix A (As-Built Drawings)









CEREA CASES Protections and Interesterior Authority of Consistence









				TE	RRAC	E CO	ORD	INATE	STABLE
			REVISE	D COOR	DINATES				ADDITIONAL COORDINATES
END POINTS	COORD (VERNIL) NORTHING	EASTING	TERRACE END POINTS	COORDI CVERMILI NORTHING	EASTING	END POINTS	COOR CLITTLE NORTHING	UNATES UNITE LAKED EASTING	TERMACE COORDENATES END POINTS CLITILE VHITE LAKES NORTHING EASTING
			54	455186.04	3020302.96				
14	461123.04	3027930. 96	63	455061.00	3028385.04	19K	458350.00	3014025.00	P0b 459398.40 3016602.04
10	460715.04	3027636.96	_			19_	457710.96	3016167.00	20c 459437.20 2016405.84
16	460290.96	3020194.00	76	455504.04	3027975.00	199	457868.04	3013072.00	20d 437451,23 3016073,45
16	461139.00	3027080.04	78	433106.96	3028235.04	198	437259.96	3013908.96	EUE +3946, 13 301304, 69 906 45946, 07 2015651 00
16.	461436.26	3027039.52	84	455043.04	5007607.06	190	45/1/3.00	3013931.04	200 45965.09 3013345.0P
10	455554 92	3027787.94		435346.04	3027948.00	190	456527.04	3014196.00	20h 452062.36 2015070.81
16'	460503.00	3026324.04		433340.04	2027940.00	195	456008.04	2014496-00	201 450949.69 3014940.55
15''	460800.53	2026553.97	SA.	456171.00	3027659.04	195	455921, 04	2014546.04	20J 456693.70 3014723.15
10	459443.04	3026666.04	53	456045.00	3027741.00	197	455400.96	3014846.04	20k 450523.12 3014624.06
1.d	458959.19	3027302.30				190	455315.04	3014895.96	201 459214.63 3014498.96
1 dr	459867.00	3026109.00	104	456404.04	3027509.04	199	454794.96	3015195.96	20n 459020.21 3014452.15
10"'	460164.80	3056068 53	109	456270.04	3027590.04	199	454707. 96	3015246.00	20n 457699, 36 3014420. 96
15	458808.00	3026178.96				19X	454361.04	3015444.96	200 457490.05 3014437.54
1e	450323.06	3026016.35	11A	456719.04	3027106.96				80p 457163.68 3014508.57
10'	459227.04	3025619.04	119	456319.96	3027444.00	AOS	459309.04	3016972.00	20q 406978. 37 3014583. 82
1	459586. 63	3025634.56				805	459387. 96	3016650.96	20n 456693.10 3014740.83
15	458331.00	3025015.96	184	457161.00	3026903.04	205	459446. D4	3016356.96	208 456509. 57 3014840. 26
AS	459912.96	3028709.04	123	456761.04	3027159.96	202	459456.00	3016122 96	PO1 456218.94 3015006.97
65	459515.04	3028439.04				305	459423.00	3015025.96	atur +56046.00 3015107.56
26	459095.04	3029965.00	134	457309.96	3026074.96	207	459366.00	3015597.96	22A 459479.24 3017105.00
20	459939.00	3027872.04	138	457863.96	3026955.96	800	459245.04	3015324.00	228 459668.07 3016590.22
eu Dr	458418.04	302/975.00	144	457501 04	30264.04 00	HOS	459114.96	3015126.96	820 459677.80 3016531.18
80	459403.01	3027338.32	148	457476.00	3026799.00	20	450739.00	2014750.04	82D 459708.05 3015973.98
20	458288.04	2027491.04	1.10	40/4/01/00	0000777.00	SOK	458480.04	2014598.94	22E 459696.62 3015924.82
2d	457797. 48	3020127.16	154	457821.96	3026316.00	20.	450262.94	3014510.04	22F 459552. 45 3015385. 22
2d'	450766.36	3026053.07	150	457404.04	3026649.00	2014	457971.96	3014439.96	22G 459532. 35 3015339. 44
25	457646.04	3027006.00				80N	457739. D4	3014417.04	22H 459233, 24 3014869, 92
ĉv .	457160.83	3027642.72	16A	458196.96	3025947.96	203	457440.00	3014448.00	221 459200.32 3014931.10
De'	450129.72	3026369.43	160	457857.96	3026280.96	20P	457209.00	3014490.00	22J 456773.66 3014471.90
æ	457350.00	3026781.94				200	456933.96	3014603.04	22K 459730. 97 3014445. 97
			17A	458375.04	3025911.96	808	456726.00	3014715.96	22L 458216.14 3014231.20
AC	459135. CE	3029192.14	170	450270.04	3026016.96	205	456465.96	3014065.00	P2H 458167, 61 3014219, 18
39	158093.16	3029059.29				201	456261.96	3014982.00	22N 457612.09 3014160.91
30	457775.04	3028917.04	18A	460034.04	3017334.00	50U	456003.00	3015134.04	220 457542.19 301472.01
36	457290.70	3029453.71	103	460239. 96	3016770.96	201	455799.00	3015249.96	200 454070 50 2014230 77
3e'	459259.50	3029190. 42	100	460278.96	3016574.04				229 456437.25 3014598.63
30	437137.96	3028332.96	160	460304.04	3015975.00	819	457302.00	3017292.96	EES 456393.95 3014617.63
34	457622.94	3027695.98	100	460122.96	3013774.98	218	456942.96	3017732 26	DET 455032.12 3014942.01
35	456501.96	3027848.04	186	460041.96	3015014.04	810	457462.22	2017751.92	22U 455769.91 3014967.01
									22V 455225.90 3015292.01
									EEW 45519E.60 3015317.01
									22× 454706.29 2015592.01
									82Y 454662.98 3015617.01
44	458353. 85	3029092, 50	18L	458389.00	3013656.00				EEZ 454509.88 3015704.50
48	456950. 04	3029901. 39	10M	450193.00	3013611.96				
40	456552.00	3029597.04	16N	457595.04	3013569.00	_			
40	456400.45	3029797.97	180	457401.96	3013749.96				
40	455994 94	3020961.97	100	456799 04	3013939.00		l		
40	433691.94	3029573.04	188	436310.00	3013638.94				
44'	456479.12	3029537, 79	195	456192.00	2014217.00				
46	455359.00	3029699, 96	197	455768.04	3013791.96			1	
4e	454995.00	3029168.04	180	455586.00	3014565.96				
4e'	455781.96	3029133.04	187	455162.04	3014148.00				
4F	454920.00	3029356.96	184	454990.00	3014916.00				
44	454497.00	3028914.00	18X	454767.96	3014703. 96				
54	456138.59	3029907.67	19A	459889.96	3016904.04				
58	455998. 56	3029853.90	198	460005. 96	3016316.04	_			
50	436009.17	3029967. 59	190	460010.04	3016217-04				
50	455775.79	3029897.96	190	459945.00	4215621.00				
56	455729.11	3029880.04	196	459918.96	3015524.04				
55	455449.05	3029772, 49	197	409684.00	3014972.04				
194	455072.34	3029498, 21	190	459220, 04	3014439.94				AG-BUILT
51	455075.64	80.99699.09	197	459153.96	3014375.04				DRAWINGS
	454562.20	3029411.92	19,1	458642.04	3014064.00				
	454562.20	3029431.92	19J	458642.04	3014064.00	_			AUCON & ASSOCIATES



**ASBUILT** COORDINATES

÷

Appendix B (Photographs)





Photo 1: Little White Lake Terraces, Interior Row (April 2016)



Photo 2: Little White Lake Terraces, 2<sup>nd</sup> Row (April 2016)





Photo 3: Four Mile Canal Terraces (April 2016)



Photo 4: Emergent Vegetation Within Four Mile Canal Terraces (April 2016)





Photo 5: Little White Lake Terraces (May 2024)



Photo 6: Little White Lake Terraces (May 2024)





Photo 7: Four Mile Canal Terraces (May 2024)



**Photo** 8: Emergent Vegetation within Four Mile Canal Terraces (May 2024)

